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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI
WESTERN DIVISION

CORAL GROUP, INC. and
SENTIS GROUP, INC.

Plaintiffs,
V. No. 4:05€V-0633-DGK
SHELL OIL COMPANY and

EQUILON ENTERPRISE&ZLC d/b/a

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
SHELL OIL PRODUCTS US, )
)
)

Defendans.

ORDER GRANTING MOTION FOR SANCTIONS

This lawsuit arisesout of the partiésfailed business relationshipPlaintiffs are two
corporations that briefly engaged in the business of oper&tietfbrand gasoline stations and
convenience stores under contracts with Defendants. Plaintiffs are suifiguidy breach of
contract, and a violation of the Petroleum Marketing Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. 82801
Plaintiffs seek over $28 million in damages.

The Court previously dismissed Plaintiffs’ claims with prejudice as a sanction for
discovery violationsand other abuses of the judicial process. The Eighth Circuit Court of
Appeals subsequently reversed and remanded the dismissal for further caosidefan
remand, he case waseassigned to this Court.

Now before the Court is Defendantdotion for Sanctions (Doc. 645). Defendants move
for sanctions under Rule 3hd the Court’s inherent authorigyguing Plaintiffs willfully failed
to comply with various discovery orderribed their accountantand engaged in spoliation

Plaintiffs deny the allegations.
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Following remang the parties engaged in substant@dibcovery into Defendants’
allegations After the Courtonductedh two dayevidentary hearing, the parties submitted post
hearing briefs.

After carefully reviewinghe entire recordhe Courtholdsas follows. First, with respect
to the discovery orders, Plaintiffs willfully violated the Court’'s June 16, 2006 @mibthis
violation prejudiced Defendants so sanctions should be imposed under Rule 37(b).
Accordingly, Chris Wallsis stricken as an expert witnes3.he Court holds Plaintiffs did not
willfully violate the Court’'s September 8, 2006 order, and so no sanction should be imposed
comection withany failure to comply withthat order Second,with respect to the bribery
allegation,the Court finds the evidence is insufficient to establish that Plaintiffs attempted to
bribe their accountant. Thirayith respect to the spoliation clajirthe Court finds Plaintiffs
intentionally failed to preserve a variety of evidgno®st importantlyinformation ontheir
accountant’'scomputer that the information on this computercannot be reconstructed or
replaced and that the loss of thiaformation hasrreparablyprejudicedDefendants ability to
defend this caseAccordingly, pursuant to itsiherent authoritythe Court orderas a sanction
thatPlaintiffs’ cases DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE.

Defendantsimotion is GRANTED.

Background

The Eighth CircuitCourt of Appeals has previouslyramarized the facts and procedural

posture of this caseSentis Group, Inc. v. Shell Oil C&59 F.3d 888, 8928 (8th Cir. 2009).

The following summary quotes extensively from this decision without furthdyuitm.



1. General Background

Plaintiffs Cortis Group, Inc. (“Cortis”) and Sentis Group, Inc. (“Sentisite two
corporationghat brieflyengaged in the business of operat8tgeltbrand gasoline stations and
convenience stores undeontracts with Defendants.These contracts arecalled Multi-Site
Operator AgreementSNISOs” or the “Agreements”).Under he AgreementDefendants made
expense payments to Plaintiffs to reimbuttsemfor certain costs of maintaining retail gasoline
operations. Plaintiffs allege Defendants induced Plaintiffs to enter into the Agreements and
calculated subsequent paymetiisough misrepresentations and fraudpecifically, Plaintiffs
allege Defendantgprovided false historic expense and profit figures and that Defendants
calculated the expense payments using a method different from what theyreséneg at the
time of contracting. The Complaintissens statelaw claims of fraud and breach of contract, as
well asa claimunder the Petroleum MarketiRyactices Actl5 U.S.C. 88§ 28041. Plaintiffs
seek over $28 million in damages.

Discoveryin this case has begmotracted and contentioug. he partieshave frequently
sought the Court’s intervention in discovery matters, &edCourt hasheld approximately 15
discovery conferences in thissed Most of the disputes concerned Defendaatsempts to
discover Plaintiffs’ financial informatigrclaiming it was relevant to the underlying question of
liability and to the scope and cause HHiRtiffs’ alleged damages.

2. Key Personnel
To understand the discovery dispute and the parigtsons leading to the dismissal of

this case, it is necessary to explain the role of theeplein this case.

! By contrast, in most cases the Court haldsmore thamnediscovery teleconference
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a. Alan Barazi is Plaintiffs’ owner and pncipal officer. Defendants allege Barazi
attempted to brib&lick Anton, Plaintiffs’ accountantto withhold documents from Defendants
that would be favorable to their case.

b. Chris Walls is a business consultant Plaintiffs characterize as a member of
management. The majority of theparties discovery disputesoncerned discovery responses
related towalls.

Plaintiffs designated Walls as an expert on the topic of the Agreements and sit
operations. Prior to this litigation, Walls assisted Plaintiff:iegotiating and evaluatinipe
Agreements He subsequently assisted in the management and operation of the stations and in
the ongoing analysis of financial performance at the stations. Although ifdambw
characterize Walls as an employee andsirt®e is a noietained expert, Walls submitted bills to
Plaintiffs on an hourly basis for his work on letterhead from his own consulting firm, TQM
Consulting. At the start of litigation, Walls’s resume listed TQM as his employeduring the
litigation he changed that designation and listed Plaintiffs as his employers.

Defendants assert Plaintiffs continually shifted their characterizatioWalls's status
back and forth between that of consultant and/or employee. ndafes claim Plaintiffsgoal
wasto protect certain information Plaintiffs had shared with Walls as privileged ahitee
same time characterizing Walls as an outside consultant so that he coultheviBwfendants’
informationthatwas subject to a protective order.

Production related to Walls was the primary issue that frustthtedburt and led to
dismissal of the casdn its June 14, 2007 order of dismissal, the Court found it had issued four
orders compelling the production of 58 documents that had been generated, considered, or relie

upon by Walls, and that Plaintiffs had failed to obey each order.



C. Nick Anton is an accountant who served as Plairtifsployee at the time
Plaintiffs entered into the Agreements. Plaintiffs assert that Anton’s employreaséd in late
2004 or early 2005 and that he has served as an outside accounting consultant since that time
Defendants point out, however, that Barazi and Anton signed state-licermse applications
after 2005 and that the state ligui@ense appliations name Anton as a manager, managing
officer, or managing agent.

Defendants assert féffs and Barazi lied to the @urt and Defendants about Anten
status in order to prevent Defendants from gaining access to information hstdooy Two of
the issues that led to the sanction of dismissal involved Anton. One was related to purported
misrepresentations about Anterstatus and Plaintiffs’ failure to comply with an order to make
Anton appear at a court hearing. The other was related to a réportatieged attempt to pay
Anton to withhold information.

Anton’s current whereabouts are unknown. He appears to be actively evading all
attempts to find him.
3. Perceived Abuses Serving as the Basis for Dismissal

a. Documents and Discovery Orderfelated to Chris Walls

Plaintiffs filed suit in July 2005. In their Rule 26(a)(1) disclosures, Hisintesignated
Walls as a person with knowledge of their claims. In early 2006, Plaintiffs produceaeger
log to Defendants referring to 58 purportedly privileged documents Walls eiend/or
generated. Defendants subpoenaed Walls, and in April 2006, Plaintiffs objedtatigcalls
was Plaintiffs’ employee and expert. Plaintiffs then failed to produce Wal&sfact deposition.
Defendats moved to compel separate depositions of Walls as a fact witness and as an expert

witness, and the court granted the motion.



Walls factwitness deposition took place in May 2006. the course othis deposition,
Walls referred to documenhe allegedly read or considered in preparing his expert report
Defendants subsequently demanded production egetdlocuments. These documents were
listed on a privilege log.Plaintiffs refusedto produce them, and Defendants sought an order
from the distict court directing Plaintiffs to disclosedin

The Court enteredt first discovery order on June 16, 2006t stated, “For each of
Plaintiffs’ experts, Plaintiffs are ordered to produce the information considered by angd@r rel
upon in forming that experts opinion.” Plaintiffs continued to refuse to disclose the document,
claiming that itwas privileged andwas not considered or relied upon by Walls in forming his
expertopinion. Defendants again sought an order from @oairt, and on July 13, 2006, the
Court entered a second discovery order that is not relevant to the pending. nRigioniffs still
failed to produce the documents, and Defendants again sougfothés intervention. @
August 17, 2006, theCourt entered a third discoveryrder, ordering production of the
documents.

On September 7, 2006, Defendants emailed a letter taCtuet askingit to order
Plaintiffs to produce alb8 documents. The following day, tl@ourt issued an order that stated,
in part:

Plaintiffs are ordexd to produce any and all document or analysis
developed by Chris Walls relating to this litigation, regardless of
whether the document is claimed as privileged or if Chris Walls
relied upon said document. The documents must be produced by
noon on Monday September 11, 2007[sitf.th[ese] documents

are not produced, Plaintiffs will not be permitted to present the
testimony of Mr. Walls at trial.

On its face, this fourth discovery order was broader in scope than the preceding @ders

September 11, Plaintiffs petitioned the Eighth Circuit Court of Apdeala Writ of Mandamus



seeking to avoid production under a claim of privilegin a responsive filing, Defendants
clarified that they sought merely “data or other information iclemed by Chris Walls in
forming his opinions.” The Eighth Circuidenied the petition on September 26, 20@hortly
thereafter, Plaintiffs produced to tl®urt forin camerareview documents they considered to
be privileged documents related to Chvigalls without limitation to whether thdocuments
were related to Walls’ expert opinion. They also produced a different, more limited body of
documents directly to Defendants.

Plaintiffs filed a motion for in camera review, and Defendants filed a mdbon
sanctions.Defendants alleged in their motion that the documents Plaintiffs produced directly to
Defendants did not contain th8 documents from the March 2006 privilege log and that the
Bates label®n the documents wetifferent from those refereed on the March 2006 privilege
log.

The Court did not rule on the motion for in camera review. Rather, it scheduled a hearing
for December 15, 2006, to address the motion for in camera review and the issue of sanctions.
The December 15, 2006 hearimydiscussedoelow. After the hearing, but before ti®ourt
entered its written order of dismissal, Plaintiffs provided a table that-fesenced the new
and old Bates labels.

b. Plaintiffs’ production of accounting information held by Nick Anton and his
employment classification

A second discovery issue th@@t addressed at the sanctions hearing and i€ olet's
order of dismissal involved the production of accounting information by Nick Anton.

Defendants sought financial reports and tax retimelsl by Anton during Plaintiffs’
initial production of documentsBy mid 2006, it was not clear that Defendants had received all

of the accounting information they requesteth particular, Defendants had not received a



“payroll journal” they believed to be important to their cad@efendants had received some
information as raw data that was meaningless unless opened with the samecqnmmuam
used by Plaintiffs.Defendants deposed Anton in May 2006, and at thmeg, tAnton claimed that
he did not maintain a “payroll journal.”

In mid-August of 2006 the Court ordered Plaintifffto make Anton and his computer
available for another depositiorDefendants deposed Anton a second time on September 13,
2006, and Antorromplied with the order, bringing his computer to the depositidter asking
a few questions, Defendants discovered that Astoomputer did, in fact, contain a file named
“payroll journal.” Defendants terminated the deposition, reserving the right to question Anton
further in the future, if deemed necessary.

C. Alleged Attempt to Pay Anton to Conceal Documents

A third issue cited by th€ourt in its order of dismissé analleged attempt by someone
to bribe Anton to conceal information.

One ofDefendants’ attorney8etsyBadger, submitted a written affidavit to t@eurt in
which she stated that she had received a phone call from a person she did not know who claimed
to be an attorney from Houston and personal counsel for Anfwtording to Eadger, the
person who represented himself as Arggmersonal counsel from Houston alleged that Plaintiffs
had offered to pay Anton to conceal data favorable to DefendBatiger asserted that the man
on the phone sought compensation from her for documents in’ArgoasessionThe affidavit
did not allege that the man on the phone identified specifically who had made an offéorio A
4. The District Court’s Order of Dismissal

During the December 15, 200évidentiary hearing, Defendantsmade a presentation

addressing, among other thingfse discovery orders related to Walls and the alleged attempt to



pay Anton to conceal documentsAt the end ofthis presentation, th€ourt had a heated
exchange with PlaintiffstounselFrederickStarrdt, in which Starrettdenied being ordered four
times to produc¢he samalocuments to Defendants. At that point, @eurtended the hearing
and summarily grantedDefendarits motion to dismiss this case for systematic abuse of the
discovery process.

On June 14, 2007, theddrt entered its written order of dismissal with prejudidec.
488). The Court cataloged Plaintiffsalleged discovery violations in detail. Among other
findings, the Courheld it had issued four discovery ordadgecting Plaintifs to produce58
documents Plaintiffs had engaged in a pattern of willful discovery abaset Plaintiffs had
attempted tdoribe Anton. The Gurt thensanctioned Plaintiffs under Rule 37 and @murt’s
inherent authority.

5. The Court of Appeals’ Order Reversing the District Court

Plaintiffs gpealed. On March 24, 2009, the Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit
reversed andemandegdholdingthedistrict court had erred by not separating its Rule 37 analysis
from the inherent authority analysis.The Eighth Circuitalso questioned whether Plaintiffs’
actions merited the severe sanction of dismissal.

The Eighth Circuitmade the followindgindings relevant to the pending motiorit held
that “no weight can be accorded to thléeeged attempt to bréb Anton becausehere was no
reliable evidence to support the allegation,” since the allegations were grountkstsaynot
bearing any indicia of reliabilityld. at 900-01. It also observed that:

If Plaintiffs or their agents actually offered to pay Anton to conceal
evidence, the outcome of the sanctions question becomes clear. In
fact, it may become necessary to refer this matter for possible
prosecution. Allegations standing alone, however, cannot justify

dismissal, and it was error to rely uptre tallegations in the infirm
affidavit without an investigation or an evidentiary hearing.



Id. at 910.

With respect to the other discovery abuses, the Eighth Cireudrsedthe Court’s
finding that all four orders called for production of the same documents, finding instead the
orders,

contained slightly different descriptions of the documents to be
produced, and Plaintiffs read each order in a limited fashion to
limit production. This behavior was evasive and appears to have
been directed towards qiecting a claim of privilege. While this
behavior may have resulted in technical vompliance with one

or more of the orders, the court’s overly broad characterization of
the orders demonstrates that the orders were not clear, and it makes
the existence of any nesompliance equally unclear. Further,
Plaintiffs’ apparent gamesmanship, while not admirable, is not
necessarily indicative of a willful violation of the orders.

Id. at 902. As tdPlaintiffs’ pattern of conduct, thigighth Circuitwrote,

[t]o the extent the court on remand might again view a pattern of
conduct as evidence of willfulness (as relevant to a possible Rule
37 violation) or, in the alternative, as evidence of bad faith (as
relevant to a possible inhereauithority analysis), theoart will

need to address these issues anew.

Id. at 901. It emphasizd that,

the district court need not find Plaintiffs’ actions excusable; non
prejudicial, nor innocuous. We note only that the present record
contains several close questions as fainBffs’ willfulness,
Plaintiffs’ violation of one or more discovery orders, the existence
of prejudice, and the appropriateness of the overall sanction of
dismissal.

Id. at 9B-04.
TheEighth Circuits final instruction was
we encourage the court to consider a range of potential sanctions
and to examine each party’s actions. . . In particular, we believe
remand should include but not be limited to: (1) examination of the

materials provided to the court for in camera reviewy;a(Zareful
analysis of the extent to which Plaintiffs may have failed to
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comply with discovery orders; and (3) whether any noncompliance

was willful or was carefully calculated to preserve asserted

privilege while narrowly construing the different orders. To the

extent it is alleged Plaintiffs attempted to pay Anton to conceal

evidence, the court on remand may need to conduct an evidentiary

hearing. Any findings regarding this allegation would likely factor

heavily into the sanctions analysis.
Id. at 905.
6. Postremand Discovery, Evidentiary Hearing, and Motion for Sanctions

After remand, the Coufrtpermitted extensive discovery into the bribery alleyeti
During this discovery, e partiesdeposedalmost all of the key witnesses, including Willard
Conrad Anton’s attorney who telephoned Ms. Badgeéklan Baaz, Ms. Badger,and defense
counsel David Harris.The parties dichot depose Anton himself, who has disappealedg
with the computer storing Plaintiffs’ financial informatiorDefendants ab investigated the
financial ties between Bariaand Anton.
On August 2nd and 3rd, 2011, the Court helcbvidentiary hearingeceinng testimony

on (1) the allegation that Plaintiffattempted to pay Anton to conceal evidence (including
evidence relatig to the relationship between Nick Anton and Alan Barazi, evidence relating to
whether the objective of the alleged scheme was achieved, evidence concerning the financial
relationship between Anton and Barazi, and evidence of Anton’s evasion of service); and (2)
evidence related to Plaintiffs’ credibility and the reliability of Plaintiffs’coiery responses
with respect to alleged misstatements about the nature, extent, and historyreiatibaship
between Anton and Barazi and their respective comrepabiuring the hearingBadger, Defense

counsel DavidHarris, Defendant EquilonemployeeKevin Autin, and Barazall testified in

person.

2 This case was administratively transferred to the undersigned Judgéy®8, 2009.
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Before and after the evidentiary hearingg parties submitted other evidence which the
Courthasconsidered This evidencéncludesapproximately twenty depositions ahdndreds of
exhibitscomprised of thousands of pages of documents.

After the hearing, Defendants filed the pending Motion for Sanctions which thespartie
havethoroughlybriefed?

Discussion

Sanctions are appropriate under Rule 3{b).

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 37(b)(2)(A) authorizes a sanction of dadmiss
where there is (1) an order compelling discovery, (2) a willful violation of dhder, and (3)
prejudice to the other partyd. at 899.

Defendants argue Plaintifhould be sanctionaghder Rule 37(b) for failure to owply
with two orders compelling production of documents related to Chris Wh#sJune 16, 2006
order (“the first order”) and the September 8, 2006 order (“the fourth order”).

A. Plaintiffs willfully violated t he June 16, 2006 order and prejudiced
Defendants, buta lesser sanction thamlismissal is warranted.

Defendants contend theourt’s June 16, 200®rder required Plaintiffs to produce the
analysis andhe 58 documents on Plaintiffs’ March privileggl The Court holds that givehe
events leading upo the order’s issuance Plaintiffs failure to produceiny documents was a
willful violation. An appropriate sanction is that Wallle stricken as an expert witness.

The events leadingp to the issuance of the June 16, 2006 order are as follows. On May
17, 2006, Defense counsel David Harris took Wd#lst deposition.Plaintiffs’ counsel Gordon

Wells defended the deposition. During the depositioall$Mtesified that since February 2005

% The Court notes that in both parties’ briefing, the citation to the record isinéecurate, lacks pinpoint citation,
or both. The Court orders that in any subsequent filings referenceg padrof the record shall include accurate
pinpoint citations. Instead of simply citing a document number, the pslnidiscite to a specific page number.

12



he hadworkedapproximatelyl00% for Barazi’'s companies. Of this work, 98% afahsisted

of assisting Barazwith his claims against Shell. After Plaintiffs receiv&tells “Final
Response to Issgéletter dated February 5, 2008/alls analyzed issues raised time letter on
Plaintiffs’ behalf in anticipation ofitigation. At this time, Walls had not been engad as an
expert. After meeting withPlaintiffs’ attorneys and Barazihe attorneys instructedvalls to
perform additionalanalysis identifying the root problems with the MSOs. This additional
analysis was part &valls' expert report.

Harris believed His analysis wadliscoverableand wanted to see it. There was some
confusion about what walsted on Plaintiffs’ March 2006privilege logand what shouldhave
beenlisted The attorneysdiscussed the matter off the record. When they went back on the
record, Wells stated,

| think perhaps, Mr. Harris, you were asking was there
some sort of written document or analysis done in response to
Exhibit 28 [sic], the Kevin Autin letter, before any direction from
counsel that perhaps would not be privileged. My understanding
of the answer to that question is, no, there was no such document
done.

Second question | believe you were then asking is- thred
the answer would be that the analysis that was done in response to
the Autin letter, the written letter, was done at the request of
counsel.

In the fiveminute review that we have seen here, we don't
see that on the privilege log in taking this quick look. . . | believe
that that document ishé rest of what was Hunt Exhibit 3
yesterday. [The parties marked this exhibit as Walls Exhibit 21,
which] is the cover sheet to the written analysis that Mr. Walls did
in response to the Autin letter, as you were inquiring about, and he
prepared the emgty of that document at the request of counsel.

Walls Dep. at 36465. Wells added tbexhibit had inadvertently been produced and should have

been withheld as privileged as the rest of the document was.
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Harris noted other problems with ttWalls’ docunents on the privilege log As an
example,he notedan email from Chris Walls to Jeff King regarding a TRO application
Plaintiffs had listecan obviously incorrect dateHarrisproposedhat if hehad any remaining
“cleanup” questionsconcerning the prilege log he ask tbm at Walls’ upcoming expert
deposition‘because | assume it's gthe privileged documentsgjoing to relate to [Wallséxpert]
analysis anyway.” Walls Dep. at 366. Wells replied, “I believe it probafdly primarily.”
Walls Dep.at 366. Harris thenconfirmedthat the documentssted on the privilege logelated
to Walls expert report

Mr. Harris: Right. Because | assume everything thait
least on the privilege log for Mr. Walls is going to have pertinence,

if at all, tohis expert rport that he’s going to submit.

Mr. Wells: | don’'t know if | can say everything, but |
suspect in large degree that may well be true.

Mr. Harris: Okay, that will be great.
Walls Dep. at 368.Plaintiffs, however,never producedany documentson the privilege log
related to Walls.

The partiescheduled a discovery dispute teleconference for June 16, 2006 to discuss this
and other discovery disputesth the Court. Pursuant td_ocal Rule 37.1 the day before the
teleconferenceDeferdants faxed Plaintiffs’ and the Court a letter with exhibits listing the
outstanding discovery disputaad summarizindpefendants’ position. The heading for one of
the disputesliscussedn the letteris captioned “Expert Reports: Plaintiffs refuse to produce the

information considered by employee Chris Walls in forming his expert opinionEx®éat G .”
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Lttr. dated June 15, 2006 from Defs.” Counsel Jacqué@lioeker(DEX 191) at 2. Exhibit Gis
the March 2006 privilege log which lists the 58 Walls documents.
The parties discusselde Wallsdispute during the phone conference.

MR. HARRIS: Then the next problem is the Plaintiffs’
expert report. The plaintiff we've asked for the materials that the
plaintiff utilized -- or the experts utilized were presented too, their
work papers, their drafts, leading up to their expert report.
They've refused to produceny of that stuff, and, in particular,
we’re concerned about Mr. Walls, who they claim is an employee
of theirs.

At Mr. Walls’ deposition he testified that he's been
working on a claim against Shell since February of 2005 and that
the material that he was working on since February 2005 is the
materialthat led up to and was the foundational material for his
report that he submitted to the Court. Because during my
deposition of Mr. Walls as a fact witness, | started to atsbut
what kind of analysis was he doing after Februairy2005, and
appropriately, plaintiffs objected and savell, that is all related
to his expert witness about whigbu will have an opportunity to
depose him, but now they'r®t going to give me any of workup
documents, the expert wogkapers, the earlier draft, all of that
stuff, which | was frankly, surprised at. That's customary, as |
undestand it,to be produced in these matters. We've got some
authority if the Court wants it, but

THE COURT: No, | agree. What do you say, King?

MR. KING: The documents that e referring toabout
Mr. Walls are documents that Mr. Walls hasbdlieve around
March or April of 2005, that he prepared are whéaintiffs were
preparing to hire counsel to pursue this casports that he
prepared to inform counsel exactly what wgging on so they
could understand the case.

4“DEX 191" means Defendants’ Exhibit 191. As used in this order, “DEX” aftX*Rshall mean Defendants’ and
Plaintiffs’ exhibits from the August 2011 evidentiary hearing.
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Those documents those are privileged document§hose
aren't documents that were used to prepare an exgpent. Those
are documents that were used to give counsélea of the legal
issues the plaintiffs were suffering so thia¢y could understand
whether to take th case, and then, ontleey took the case, to
understand how to pursue these claims. That is an information
in fact, the case that is cited dgfendants is cited to show that in
house experts, which Mwalls is an irRhouse expert, that in-house
expets are treatedn the same way as an ordinary witness, an
order witness employee of plaintiffs, who is helpimgpare his
company’sattorney or potential attorneys to taltee case. Mat
information is given attorney/client privilegand his status asa
expert doesn't change tratorney/client privilege.

What Mr. Walls relied on in preparing his expert
disclosures were the exhibits that were contained inettpeert
disclosures, as well as the documents receivedShil -- or
received from Shell thawere produced, the highlgonfidential
documents, the confidential documents, the MB&lel itself, the
historic expense information, and that's Your Honor likely
remembers when we were in front of yomanth ago specifically
for the purpose of getting Mr. Wallaccess to highly confidential
documents so that he could hatree information necessary to
conduct his expert report.

Thats the information that he relied olVe identified that
that was the type of information relied cemd because it as
produced by Shelthey have full access tbose documents.

MR. HARRIS: All | can do is quote you to what Mi/alls
testified to, that he testified at his deposition et studies and
workup that he did in 2005 was thieundational basis for his
expert report.And, Your Honor, lthink if we're going to get into
a claim-- | mean, even if hshared it with the lawyers, if it then
becomes part of hisxpert report that he’gong to testify about, |
think he’s got to still give us that informatiorhecause once he
electedto put it out on the record here and try to get an adjustment,
he can't hide his work papers by saying | shared them with the
lawyer, because it would be the same as me saying a dnafy of
expert report | dom haveto produce because | showed it to the

16



lawyers before | finalized my expert report.ve never hearaf
that.

THE COURT: Okay. 'm going to rule that if Walls
deposition says that, that the studies and work papers ha did
2005 were his foundation for his expert reports, then you
have to produce them, Mr. King.

MR. HARRIS: And Il produce that to the Court —

THE COURT: If hés going to rely on it in any wafpr his
expert report, he’s got to produce it.

MR. HARRIS: And would that be true for the otlestperts
as well, if--

THE COURT: Yes, it would.

MR. HARRIS: Because wee got no backup materiébr
any of the other experts.

THE COURT: Yes, it would.

MR. HARRIS: All right. Then the next is the Rosa
Nickelson documents . . .

Tr. of June 16, 200Bele Conf.(DEX 194)at 5356. Shortly afterthe hearing endedhe Court
enteredts order which stated relevant part thatFor each of Plaintiffs’ experts, Plaintiffs are
ordered to produce the information considered by and/or relied upon in ¢othanh expert’s
opinion.” Doc. 177 at § 7.

Plaintiffs, however,refused to disclose the analysis or any of \Wls’ documents on
the privilege log Ignoring the fact that the Court had carefully listened to their arguments and
clearly rejected them, IRintiffs continued to insist that Wallkad never relied on these
documents and that they were privileged. Plaintiffs alleged that Harris haepresented

Walls' testimony to the Court, and that Walls had never stated that he relied upon the privileged
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and withheld document in preparing his expert report. Plaintiffs vowed they tvmildroduce
this privileged document.’Lttr. dated June 26, 2006 from PIs.” Counsel Rebecca King to Defs.’
Counsel Jacqueline Blocker (PEX 2) at 2.

In light of theabove, the Court finds Plaintiffs willfully violated the Court’s June 16,
2006 order. As a threshold matter, the Court finds the June 16 wedesufficiently clear
becausehere is no questioRlaintiffs knew what documents were dispute This is ewdenced
by three facts First, the parties had been wrangjiaboutthe discoverability ofhesedocuments
for several weekssince the first Walls depositionSecondthe day before the teleconference,
Defendantssent Plaintiffs and the Court a list tffe document#n dispute. Third, during the
teleconferencePlaintiffs discussedthe discoverability of thesspecific documents with the
Court. Indeed, Plaintiffs’ counsel described these documents to the Court:

The documents that [Defense counsel is] referring to about Mr.
Walls are documents that Mr. Walls has, | believe around March or
April of 2005, that he prepared [] when Plaintiffs were preparing to
hire counsel to pursue this case, reports that he prepared to inform
counsel exactly what was ggiron so they could understand the
case.

Tr. of June 16, 2006 Tele. Conf. (DEX 194) at 54.

Of coursethe Court’s written order could have been more specific; the Court could have
listed the document#ndividually by Bates numbers But the fact that the Court’s order could
have been morspecific does not meait was unclear, particularly given treontext ofthe

Court’sruling and the Plaintiffs’ clear understanding of it.

® Plaintiffs contend the Eighth Circuit has already decided that the fecowiry orders were unclear,imating

that the Court of Appeals considered each order individually and hetsiambiguous. What the Court of Appeals
found was that the four discovery orders did not call for “production of the dacunents.”Sentis 559 F.3d at

902. “The ordergach contained slightly different descriptions of the documents to becphdand Plaintiffs read
each order in a limited fashion to limit productiond. If the Court of Appeals had found the four orders were
unclear, it would not have instructed this Court on remand to conductefulcanalysis of the extent to which
Plaintiffs may have failed to comply with discovery orderkl” at 905.
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The Court also finds Plaintiffs willfully failed to pduce them.As used in the context of
Rule 37(b), willful “implies a conscious or intentional failure to act, as distinguished from
accidental or involuntary noncompliance®maha Indian Tribe, Treaty of 1854 with U.S. v.
Tract I-Blackbird Bend Area933F.2d 1462, 1468 (8th Cir. 1991Rlaintiffs deny they willfully
failed to produce them, claiming if they violatda order,it happenediespite their best efforts
and good faith intentions Plaintiffs asserthiey believed the attorney clieptivilege applied
andthey“made numerous efforts to clarify the uncertarihty.

The Court is not persuaded. The Court filiidle to nomerit to Plaintiffs’ attorneyclient
privilege claim. Halls’ deposition testimony establishes he became an expesgsaitRebruary
of 2005. The document dates in the privilegedstablish thahe created, read, or reviewdie
documentsafter February of 2005, thus Defendawere entitled to discovehem But even if
Plaintiffs sincerely believed the documents weigileged, their belieid not voidthe Court’s
order orauthorizePlaintiffs to ignore it. There is no goddith exception to Rule 37(b), and the
Court declines to write one inta itif a party intentionally fails to obeg discoveryorder, the
willful nessrequirement is satisfied.

The Court also findslaintiffs never—as they now claim-attemptedto clarify the
meaning of the Court’s ordePlaintiffs did not filea motion to clarify or to reconsider the June
16 ordertheywaited three months anblenfiled an appeal While they hadevery right to seek
an interlocutory appeaseeking an appea not the same thing as what they are now arguing
that they sought larification of what the orderequired them to do.Plaintiffs knew what the
June l16order directed thento produce, thegimply declined tgoroduceit. Accordingly, the

Court findsPlaintiffs' actionswere willful.
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Finally, the Courholdsthat althougDefendants have been prejudicadesser sanction
thandismissal isappropriate “A finding of ‘prejudice’ under Rule 37(b) is proper if the failure
to make discovery impairs an opponent’s ability to determine the factual meritpartyss
claim.” Vainer v. O’Brien 351 F.3d 832, 839 (8th Cir. 200@)iscussing prejudicgustifying
dismissal) Prejudice does not require “irremedial hartmat @n only bealleviated by
“reopeningdiscovery and postponing trial Adams v. Trs. of N.J. Brewery Empgnsion Trust
Fund, 29 F.3d 863, 874 (3d. Cir. 1994Prejudiceincludes“the irretrievable loss of evidence,
the inevitable dimming of witnesses’ memories, or the excessive and possgiphediable
burdens or costs imposed on the opposing partyd. (quotation omittejl It also “includes
deprivation of information through nesooperation with discovery, and costs expended
obtaining court orders to force compliance with discovetg.”

By failing to provide the Walls’ document®laintiffs have prejudiced Defendants by
impairing their ability to investigate Plaintiffs’ claims and prepare a defen3éeir actions
should be punished, in part to deter othersifemgaging in similar conduct.

In deciding on an appropriate sanction, the CaatésPlaintiff's violation is akin toan
expert witnessesfailure to make required disclosures under Rule 26(a)(2)(Bhus, he
punishmenshould beanalogous tohatimposedor violating Rule 37(c)(1) Carr v. Deeds453
F.3d 593, 604 (4th Cir. 2006) (excluding expert witness for failure to praudexpert report).
In the present case, striking/alls as an expert withesgs an appropriate punishment
Furthermore, iyen the importance of expert witnessesPlaintiffs’ claims Plaintiffs shouldbe
given an opportunity to substitute new expert. Not allowing Plaintiffs to substitute a new
expert would be tantamount to ordering dismissal, which would be too sesaretion for this

violation. Should Plaintiffs elect to substitute a new expert witness for Watiweverthey will
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be required to reimburse Defendants for the reasonable expenses, including atfeaseys
Defendantdiave incurredo datein preparing for Walls’ testimony.

The Court has considered whether it is inequitable for Defendants to recover ait of the
reasonable expenses since Defendants’ arguably could have tried to resolisphte in a
more constructive fashion rather than exploifgintiffs’ violation for strategic advantagehd
Court completely agrees with the Court of Appeals’ observatitratt at times Defendants
“appeared to have directed their efforts not toward effective discovery, buttoaseaggeration
of ancillary issues . . . and fanning the flames of the district court’s discontentri sBygiven
Plaintiffs’ persistent refusab comply with the rules of discovery, as discussed below in detail
with respect to discovery related to Anton, the Court cannot fault Defendafadifay to spend
more time trying taesolvethis disputeamicably beforeseeking sanctions.

Accordingly, this portion of the motion SRANTED IN PART.

B. Plaintiffs did not willfully violate t he September 8§ 2006 order.

Defendants also contend Plaintiffs willfully violated the September 8, 2006 whdehn
required production of “any and all documentamalysis developed by Chris Walls relating to
this litigation, regardless of whether the document is claimed as privileged orisf \Whlls
relied upon said document” (Doc. 290). Assuming that the order was clear, the Gasirt fi
Plaintiffs did not wilfully violate it since they produced some of the documentstsidfailure
to produce the bers was arguably because of a clerical erAthough the Court is frustrated
by this “clerical error—Plaintiffs have committed many such errors during discovery in this
case—Plaintiffs unquestionably turned over at least some of the documents. This subgest

violation was nota willful violation. Omaha Indian Tribe933 F.2d at 1468 (distinguishing
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accidental noncompliance from willful noncompliance). The Court also notethéh@&ourt of
Appeals indicatethat

Plaintiffs’ election to produce the materials for in camera review
would seem to be a technical violation of the [September 8]
discovery order. It is difficult, however, to call such a violation

willful or to find prejudice where it would have been a simple

matter for the court to permit Defendants to view or retrieve the
documents.

Sentig 559 F.3d at 903. Accordingly, the Court finds no Rule 37(b) violaiimrespect to the
September 8 order.
Il. Sanctions are appropriate under the Court’s inherent authority.

Defendants alsmove for sanctions pursuant to the Court’s inhieagithority to regulate
the conduct of those who appear before it. DefendamteendPlaintiffs should be sanctioned
with dismissabecause (1) they bribed their accountant, Nick Animepnceal evidence; and (2)
they failed to preserve financial information vital to DefendarBsecauselte Court’'s decision
rests in large part oits view of thetestimony presented during the August 2011 evidentiary
hearing the Court presentts factual findimgsfirst.

After carefully considering theredibletestimonypresentedat the hearing in the light of
the voluminous written evidence submitted by the parties, the Codsttfia relevant fact® be
as follows.

Witness Qedibility

The Court finds Badger, Harris, and Autin’s testimemye completelyrustwortty, and
believes their testimony without reservation.

With respect to WillardConrad the Courtfinds mostof his testimonyis credible His

testmony that he telephoned Badger d@ottl Badgerhis clientpossessedocument®f interest
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to herclients is credible His testimonythathe does nohow remember certain details of these
phone calls, such as whether he told Badger his client had been offered monegznyiBaot.

After observing Barazi testify for approximately six hours during the evatgrtiearing,
the Court finds he isat credible. Barazi often avoided answering questions, delayed answering
guestions, or gave unresponsive answers. He was sufficevdBive that the Court had to
repeatedly intervene and admonish him to answer the question asked. When confronted with the
fact that he had given contradictory answers while previously under oath, de foréive
glances around the courtroom, fidgeted, and appeared generally uncomfortable.

Anton’s Bribery Solicitation

On November 14, 2005, Nick Anton instructed his attorney, Willard Conrad, to telephone
one of Defendast attorneysin the Sentis caseConradcalled Defense counsel Betsy Badger
because her phone number was listed on the PACER systamradrepresented Antoin
various legal matters and specifically represented him in calling Badg¢on was in the room
with Conrad when he called Badger.

Conrad told Badger he was calling on behalf of his client who wanted to remain
anonymous. His client wanted to know if Defendants would be interested in cotmzehsa
for some documents he haeértaining tothis lawsuit. Conrad said his client did accounting
work and hadlocumentghat would be beneficial to Defendants. Conrad said Anton wanted to
see if he couldbe compensated ftinis information.

Conrad told Badger his client had been approached by Plaintiffs about these decument
Conrad told Badger that the principal of Sentis, who Conrad confirmedprasably” Alan

Baraz, had contacted Anton and offered him “remuneration” “to keep away” the documents
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from Defendants.Conrad told Badger he did not know how much the other side had offered
Anton ®

Conrad called Badger again that day. In the secondhealbld her higlient’'s name was
Nick Anton, whom he identified as a business consultant for Barazi. Badger and Conrad
discussed several things, including whetsbe couldmeet Anton, and if so, under what
conditions. Badger asked Conrad why his client thought he should be paid for talking with her,
and Conrad replied, because the other side has oftered

On November 18, 2005 Harris telephoned Conrad. During this conversation, Conrad
confirmedto Harrismost of what had told Badger earlier. Conrad did not condirrdenyto
Harristhat Anton hadold him that Barazhad offered him remuneration.

Finally, in late 2005, Anton telephoned Kevin Autin, who at that time was the general
manager of the midontinent region for Defendant Equilon. Anton told Autin thahhd some
information related to the litigation that would be of interest to Shell, but he wanted to be
compensated for it.

Plaintiffs’ Failure to Identify Anton as Its A ccountant

On September 30, 200BJaintiffs filed their Rule 26 initial disclosuresThe disclosures
identified Plaintiffs’ “financial records, including their records on the acfprofit margin,
revenues, and expenses for their operated stations during the term of th&dvients.”

The disclosures failed tadentify Nick Anton as the person responsible for creating and
maintaining some of tiserecords.

On November 11, 2005, Defendant Equilon served its first discovery requests on

Plaintiffs. Equilon requested financial documents and asked Plaintiffsetdifiy “each and

®In his November 5, 2010 deposition, Conrad testified that he did not remember teliggrBhat Anton had
already been offered compensation by Barazi. The @GiadeBadger’s testimonynore credible
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every &countant and bookkeeper.On December 14, 2005, Plaintiffs responded that “plaintiffs
state that their bookkeeper is Melissa Hurt.” Barazi signed the verifiaatider oath swearing
that to the best of his knowledge and belief, this response wasDaspite the fact thaknton
was Plaintiffs’ outside accountant at the time, Plaintiffs failed to list him.

On May 2, 2006, Plaintiffs amenddateir answer to acknowledge that “Plaintiff's
accountant is Nick Anton with Global Financial Group . . . H&swmployed by Plaintiffs during
the first 89 months of 2004 and has served as their outside accountant since that time.”
Plaintiffs contendthe initial response was based on a “technical answer” to the interrogatory.

Plaintiffs $50,000 Ryment to Anton

In May of 2007, after Plaintiffs were effectively out of business and Plaintdfse had
been dismissed, Plaintiffs, through Barazi, paid Anton’s company $50,000. Plaintiffthzai
money even after Barazi attended Anton’s deposition in May 2006eard Anton testify about
contacting Defendants to sell Plaintiffs’ financial information. When askadglars August
17, 2006 deposition whether Anton’s offer made any difference to him, Barazi responded “It
didn’t.” In fact, during the evidentiaryelaring, Barazi testified that he had never followed up
with Anton on that issue, and he continued to entrust Anton with Plaintiffs’ financial
information. During the evidentiary hearing, Barazi testified he stillsofweon $200,000.

Plaintiffs Discovery Response£oncerning Payments to Anton

Plaintiffs’ discovery responses with respect to Plaintiffiayments to Anton have been
consistently inaccurate and misleading. For exampieNovember 24, 2010 Plaintiffs sent
Defendants interrogatory responses stating that Plaintiffs, and anyorgeacPlaintiffs behalf,
had paid Antora total of$46,000 in 2004. During his January 15, 2011 deposition, Barazi

confirmedthat the$46,000 identied on Anton’s 2004 Form 1099 represented all the payments

" Barazi signed a sworn verification for these answers datbcuBry 2, 2011.
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Plaintiffs had made to Anton for 200During the same 2011 deposition, Barazi testified that he
never paid off Anton’s credit cards or reimbursed him for expenses.

Through a detailed reviewf third-party documents, Defendants subsequelayned
that Barazi's four companiéshad actually paid Anton $115,000 2004 and mad@ayments
totaling $40,599.92 to Anton’s credit cards in 2004. When confronted wétlcrigdit card
paymentsat theevidentiary hearing, Baraziaimedthe money waseimbursementfor expenses
Plaintiffs, however, have not produced any invoices or documenfatisaimbursed expenses.
Plaintiffs sworn discovery responses related tteeir 2006 payments to Anton arendarly
incorrect

Statements Concerning Anton in Liquor License Aplications

Defendants presenteebluminous evidence that Barasi discoverydisclosures made
under oatlregardingAnton’s role with Plaintiffsvere inconsistent witetatement8arazimade
under oath invarious liquor license applications Barazi alternately described Anton as a
“managing officer” or “managing director,” consultant, or mere employee &nfiwody”) as
the situation suited Plaintiffs’ needs. When confronted with et that he had made

inconsistent statements under oath, Barazi shifted blame to the attorneys whedptbpar

applications.
A. The evidencedoes not establish thaPlaintiffs or Barazi attempted to bribe
Anton. It establishes that Anton attempted to licit a bribe from
Defendants

Plaintiffs argues that the evidence presented ateth@entiaryhearing addresses the
Eighth Circuit's concerns and reinforces the Coufitgling in its June 14, 2007 order that

Plaintiffs attempted to bribe Anton.The Court finds the evidence doewt establish that

8 Barazi incorporated two additional entities, Sencor Management, Inc. atisl @anagement, Inc., to provide all
the employee services to the sites.
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Plainiffs or Barazi attempted to bribe Antobut it doesestablisithat Anton attempted to solicit
a bribe from Defendants.

The Court finds thaConrad wasAnton's attorney, and that Antodirected Conrado
contact Defense counsel because he wanted to know if Defendants would pay him for
information he possessed about the Plainfiffslence, he solicited a bribe from Defendants.
There is no evidence, howevéhat in doing so hewas acting as Plaintiffs’ amt for their
financial affairs. Consequently, no bribe can be imputed to Plaintiffs.

There is circumstantial evidensepporting Defendantlaim thatPlaintiffs attempted
to bribe Anton, but it not enoudio sanction Plaitiffs. The evidencevhich supportghis theory
is: (1) Barazi paid Anton $50,000 in May of 2007; (2) Barazi claims he continued to trust Anton
even after he offered to sell Plaintiffs’ financial information to Defatslaand (3) Anton and
his computer, which contain important financial recda<laintiffs,are now gone.

The other evidence proffered by Defendants is not reliable. Although Conratedefmor
Badger that Anton told him that the principal of Sentis had offered him moneythbold
information these hearsay statements lack sufficient indicia of reliabili§onrad has no
personal knowledge of any conversation regarding bribes between Barazi and Afign.
knowledge Conrad has comes from Anton, and Conrad could have been mistaken
misunderstood somethimgnton told him It is hearsay at bestConsequently, the Court gives

Conrad’s statement to Badger no weight.

° The Court also notesnton had a financial motivation to solicit a bribe. Throughbatrelevant time period of
this lawsuit, Anton was financially distressed. He was goingutiir@ divorce, he was in bankruptcy, and he
appeared to have limited sources of income. He was also in a positionitiegyowithhold useful information
from Defendants. He possessed detailed knowledge of Plgifitiincial information, as well as a computer on
which he stored and analyzed this information.
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The Courtalsorejects Defendants’ assertion that the Court may infer that Barazi bribed
Anton from the fact that Barazi is not credibl&Vhile Barazidenied the allegation and e
generallynot credible that does not mean that whatever he denies is true.

Because there is insufficient evidence that Barazi offered Anton a thibeortion of
the motion for sanctions is denied.

B. Plaintiffs are sanctioned forfailing to preserve discovery.

Defendants alsarguethat the Court should impose sanctiéorsPlaintiffs allegedailure
to preservecritical financial documents, that is, spoliatiorSpoliationis “the destruction or
material alteration of evidence or to the failure to preserve properanéaher’'s use as evidence
in pending or reasonably foreseeable litigatioR&nsion Comm. of Univ. of Montreal Pension
Plan v. Banc of Am. Sec$85 F. Supp. 2d 456, 465 (S.D.N.Y. 2010). “The right to impose
sanctions for spoliation arises from the court’s inherent power to control the ljynlasass and
litigation, but the power is limited to that necessary to redress condudt albuses thpidicial
process.” Id. If a litigant commitsspoliation, a district court has considdeafiexibility in
fashioning asanction. An appropriate sanction “should serve both fairness and punitive
functions,’ but its severity should correspond to théridiscourt’s finding after a ‘faeintensive
inquiry into a party’s degree of fault’ under the circumstances, including the recogthat a
partys degree of fault may ‘rang[e] from innocence through the degrees of meglige
intentionality.” Beawen v. U.S. Dept. of Justicé22 F.3d 540, 554 (6th Cir. 2010) (quoting
Adkins v. Woleveb54 F.3d 650, 652 (6th Cir. 2009) (en banc).

Defendants contend Plaintiffs failed to prese®0 computers’ check registers and
checks, miscellaneous evidencepafyments to Antonand documents on Anton’s computer

Defendantgnaintain Plaintiffs’ failure to presertis evidencavas irtentionaland is evidenced

9 These are computers located in each store that were electronically linked tof&laegifiquaters.
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by the fact that Plaintiffs never instructed Anton to preserveollectany information, even
afterthe bribey allegation surfaced. They argue Defendané/e consistentlfailed to provide
discovery related to Anton. Finally, Defendants assert they have been substantially and
irreparably prejudicedy this and sdPlaintiffs’ case should be dismisbeith prejudice.

Plaintiffs respondthat no spoliatiorhasoccurred because Defendants either received or
had unfettered access to all Plaintiffs documents and informa#dguing in the alternative
Plaintiffs submit thatDefendantscannot prove intentional destruction. They also dispute
whether Defendantsave been prejudicdaly any the loss of any information, because the lost
information is either nelevant to Plaintiffs’ claims or Defendants already had accessltotite
event sanctionare warrantedRlaintiffs suggestheyshould be limited t@xclusion of Plaintif§’
damags theory.

1. Plaintiffs failed to preserve a variety of items, including documents on
Anton’s computer.

As an initial matter, the Court finds Plaintiffs failed to presevi®@O computersgcheck
registers and checks, evidence of payments to Anton, and Anton’s comjVitérrespect to
information in the MSO computers, although Plaintiffs contend copies fitttéahave been
preservedthe record does not support this finding/ith respect to theheck registers/checks
and evidence of payments to AntéHaintiffs do not contest #t thesavere not preserved.

Turning to Anton’scomputer, Plaintiffsargue there was no failure to presentbhe
information on it because Defendants had unfettered access to the computirediméncial
information onit, at least untilAnton became unavailahlePlaintiffs intimate that as long as a
litigant hasprovidedthe opposing party withccess to the materidlsits possession, is unde

no obligation to preservie material@nd cannot be sanctionedhe materials arsubsequently
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lost Plaintiffs, however, fail to cite any legalithority for this proposition, and the Court cannot
find any.

On the contrary, the law provides thgparties must preserve potentially relevant
evidence under their ‘contr8l Victor Stanley, Inc. v. Creative Pipe, In269 F.R.D. 497, 523
(D. MD 2010). “[Dlocuments are considered to be under a party’s control when thahaarty
the right, authority, or practical ability to obtain the documents from gpady to the action.”
Id. It is wellestablished that financial records held by a party’s accountant are wélpartty’s
‘control’ for purposes of discoveryE.g., MGP Ingredients, Inc. v. Mars, IndNo. 062318-
JWL-DJW, 2007 WL 3353401, at *3 (D. Kan. Nov. 10, 2007). Consequently, the Court holds
Plaintiffs failed to preserve the information on Anton’s computer.

2. This failure to preserve was irtentional.

“A spoliation-of-evidence sanction requires a finding of intentional destruction indicating
a desire to suppress the truthGreyhound Lines, Inc. v. Wadé85 F.3d 1032, 1035 (8th Cir.
2007) (internal quotation omitted). However, the law recognizes that “[ijigemarely proved
by direct evidence, and a district court has substantial leeway to detemtené through
consideration of circumstantial evidence, witness credibility, motives of theesges in a
particular case, and other factorddorris v. Union Pac. R.R373 F.3d 896, 902 (8th Cir. 2004).
In this casethere is avealthof circumstantiakvidencerelated to Anton an@laintiffs’ financial
recordswhich support a finding of intentional destruction.

By 2005, Plaintiffs only hada handful ofemployes left, andBarazi andAnton had
exclusive control ovePlaintiffs’ expenserecords. While this made recokeepingeasierin
some waysfor example, itobviated the neetb issuea formal litigation hold to a group of

people,it also made Barazi solelgsponsite for any spoliation Since Anton was the outside
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accountantvho reported to BarazBarazi effectively had absolute control of all the resoid
there is a problem, he is to blamenfortunately,Baraziconsistently failed to preservarious
financial recordselated toor utilized byAnton, and they are now gone.

Barazi's failure to preserve or producthis evidencewas not a singlemistakenor an
isolated eventit was ongoing and systematicAs was amply demonstrated during the
evidentiary hearingall of the most important records related to Plaintibfsératingexpenses are
now gone, as is the individual (Anton) wtracked and reportetiese expenses, the computer he
used, and any reliable record of what his compensatiturallywas. The only records that ay
still exist are in a massive “pile” of boxes in a Chicago storage facility where, based on
Plaintiffs’ phaographs of these boxes, the documengsiraquestionable conditiomrAug. 2-3,
2012, Evidentiary Hearing Tr. (“Tr.”) at 443; pictures (PEX 279).

The loss ofPlaintiffs’ financial information, particularly information thgtassedhrough
Anton’s hands othatrelates toAnton’s compensations so widespread tha& cannot be mere
negligence. Theres a discerniblepattern here of deprivingDefendantsof access to this
information First, Plaintiffs did not even identify Anton as their accountamtil ssven months
into the litigation. In fact, theyarguably misled Defendants by identifying someone else,
Melissa Hurtas their accountantSecond, the loss tiie varioudinancial reports preparday
Anton and kept on his comput@ppears aimeat preventing Defendantdrom learningwhat
Plaintiffs’ expenses actually wereThis deprives Defendantsof their announced defenséat
Plaintiffs were, in fact, profitable. Third, the failure to preserve and produce any seoeipt
invoices™ related to Anton’scompensation or reimbursemetiiwars Defendants’ efforts to

determinehow much Anton was paid, or shouldve been paid, and so impeach Plaintiffs’

" The Court finds each of Barazi's various explanations for why thesgsthave never been produceithese
were based on oral agreements; he does not have them; he has them, betithetpge in Chicagenot
credible.
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recordkeeping and general credibility. Obviously, it preadu@efendantsrom determining
whether the$50,000 paid to Anton in May of 2007 was a bribe oroxerduepayment for
wages. Fourth, and prhapsmost damning, is thatven afterit was revealedhat Anton had
solicited bribedrom at least theDefendantsneither Barazor Plaintiffs (or Plaintiffs’ counsel
ever took any measures to safeguarctapy the financial informationon Anton’s computer.
Consequently the Court holds Plaintiffs’ intentionally destroyed financial information by
“losing” it under circumstances that evideracdesire to suppress the truth.

3. Defendants have beenreparably prejudiced.

Defendants assert they have been irreparably prejudiced from the losairdiff®I
financial records, particularly those on Anton’s compube@causehie missingevidence lies at
the heart of their defenses. FilBgfendantslaim Plaintiffs were profitable but concealed these
profits by creative bookkeeping, and they cannot atRlakntiffs’ phantom losses without the
informationin the missing documentsSeond, theyargue that Plaintiffs’ benefit of the bargain
theory, when properly understood, also implic&é&sntiffs’ financial performance While this
theory primarily involves looking at payments under the contaagpariof determiningwhat the
contact means by “reasonable, legitimate, and necessary expebsétantsare entitled to
evaluate Plaintiff's expensés show that the were unreasonahleThird, Defendantsargue that
anyalternate sources of information available to them are inferior

As a threshold mattethe Court findghe loss of the check registers and checks, evidence
of payments to Anton, and information contained in the MSO computérsprejudice
Defendantsbut it will not irreparablyprejudice them The loss of the information contained in
the MSO computers is not by itself fatal, because that raw information wedistother places,

like Anton’s computer.The loss of check registers and checks can probably be replaced, albeit
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at some expense, by ordering thousandduplicate checks and other bank recordigkewise,
Defendantsmay be able to overcome Plaintiffs’ failure to produce evidencePlaintiffs’
payments tdAnton by continuing to investigate and ferret otlierpayments that Baradid not
disclose, like the $50,000 payment in May 200Vo ameliorate the prejudicef having to
perform this investigationhe Court could order Plaintiff$o reimburse Defendant®r their
costsorissuean adverse inferendestruction

The loss of Anton’'ssomputer however, will irreparably prejudice Defendabiscause
the information on it isinique andrreplaceable. The computeontains a large amount aiw
information, no one knows exactly how mucthis information isstored in a very accessible
form, electronically as opposed to in hard copy; the information includes reportstgdngya
Anton that are not saved anywhere elaeg most importantly, the computer is needed
determinghe methods Anton used ¢alculatePlaintiffs’ expenses.

The Caurt rejectsPlaintiffs’ assertiorthat theinformation stored on Anton’s computer is
available ina hard copyform stored in Chicago.As a threshold matter, it was clear from
Barazis testimony during the evidentiary hearitigat he does not know everytig that is(or
was)on Anton’s computer, thuke is not competent to testifyhethereverything onAnton’s
computer ould berecreated from the “pile” oflocuments stored in Chicagd.r. at 318, 397.
Indeed, it is unclear whether Barazi even knows what is stordeeiboxes inChicagg much
less what is on Anton’s computer.

Even if recreating the information @&mton’s computer were theoretically possible, there
areinsurmountable practical prolesto doing so First, judging from Plaintiffs’ picturesf the
storage uni{PEX 279) at least some of thHeoxeshave beemamagedrom the weight of other

boxes,exposure to water and mold, or both. Thus, sofrtte documents inside the boxa®
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likely to be unusable. Secoraksuming it is physically possible to scan all the documents, i
will likely not be costeffective There are a staggering number of documents to scan. The
storage facility containapproximately 2,000bankersboxes;” here arean estimated one to two
million payroll sheetalone TR. at 321, 325Third, givenBarazi's credibility and the fact that

he isthe only person who has had access to these docufoergsveral yearsthe Court is
concerned whether these documengscamplete or may have been purged of information useful
to Defendants.

Finally, assuming alatabase of theaw datain the hard copies could bmmpiled it
would not be equivalent to whatason Anton’s computer. Anton’s computeontained more
than just data, included reportdie generatetlasedon his judgment about what data to use and
what calculations to makeUnfortunately,no one knows what accounting methods he used, or
how he reached his conclusions. Baraai,éxampe, testified he does not know what metkod
Anton used to calculate amortization and depreciation, or how he determined how much to pay
in sales taxes. Tr. a2, £7. Even if the underlying dateould be recreated, Anton’s reports
cannot be. Consequoity, Defendants have been irreparably prejudiced by the loss of Anton’s
computer.

4. Plaintiffs’ misconduct warrants dismissal

Once a violation has been found, a court must consider a range of potential sanctions.
Sentis 559 F.3d at 905. [B] eforeimposing the sanction of dismissal, fairness requires a court to
consider whether a lesser sanction is available or appropridg€eefer v. Provident Life &
Accident Ins. C.238 F.3d 937, 941 (8th Cir. 2000). “The district court is not, however,
constained to impose the least onerous sanction available, but may exerciserésotidn

choose the most appropriate sanction under the circumstarndes.”
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In this casethe Court finds Plaintiffs’ consistently evasive and deceptive conduct has
culminatedwith the loss ofirreplaceablanformation on Anton’s computer. The Court further
finds that without this information, Defendardannot receive a fair trial.This is a problem
created by Plaintiffs’ bad faith whicbannot be cured b® lessersanction such as ordering
additional discoverystriking evidence, or issuing an adverse instructigxccordingly, dter
considering avide variety of possible sanctions, the holds a lesser sanction than dismissal with
prejudice is not available or appraye.

In summary, the Court holds that pursuant to its inherent auttRlatgtiffs should be
sanctioned with dismiss&dr their badfaith failure to preserve evidence

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, the Coartlers Plaintiffs’ expert witngs Chris Wallsis
strickenas a sanction fdplaintiffs violating Rule 37(band that Plaintiffs’ claimaredismissed
with prejudice as a sanctidor Plaintiffs’ bad faith failure to preserve evidence.

DefendantsMotion for Sanctions (Doc. 645) is GRITED.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATE: SeptembeB0, 2012 Is/ GregKays

GREG KAYS, JUDGE
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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